IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 23-0549
GRIEVANCE COMMISSION NO. 944

IOWA SUPREME COURT ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY BOARD,
Complainant-Appellee,

vs.

SCOTT A. SOBEL,
Respondent-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION
OF THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

DAVID L. BROWN
Hansen, McClintock & Riley
Fifth Floor, U.S. Bank Building
520 Walnut St.
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Telephone: (515) 244-2141
Facsimile: (515) 244-2931
E-mail: dlbrown@hmrlawfirm.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLANT,
SCOTT A. SOBEL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Was the appropriate sanction imposed against Scott Sobel?

Iowa Supreme Court Att’y. Disc. Bd. v. Lickiss, 786 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 2010).

Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disc. Bd. v. Taylor, 814 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2012).

Iowa Supreme Court Att’y. Disc. Bd. v. Boles, 808 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 2012).

ROUTING STATEMENT

As this is a matter regarding attorney discipline, it must be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa Ct. R. 35.10.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an attorney ethics case involving Respondent, Scott A. Sobel. The Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board filed a Complaint against Scott Sobel on September 20, 2022, alleging several violations of the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct. (App. p. 4). The parties subsequently filed a Partial Stipulation Pursuant to Iowa Court Rule 36.16 on December 20, 2022, that consisted of a stipulation of facts, a stipulation of exhibits, and a waiver of a formal hearing on this matter. (App. p. 14). In lieu of a formal hearing, both parties submitted post-stipulation briefs on January 31, 2023. (App. p. 23). On February 2, 2023 the Board filed an Objection and Motion to Strike Portions of Respondent's Post-Stipulation Brief. On February 13, 2023, Sobel filed a Response to the Objection. On April 3, 2023, The Grievance Commission of the Supreme Court of Iowa issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Ruling on Objection and Response, and Recommendation. (App. 38). The Findings found Scott Sobel violated the rules of professional conduct and recommended a thirty day suspension of Sobel's license to practice law. (App. 55). Scott Sobel timely filed an appeal of the Commission's findings. (App 57).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The factual record for this matter is contained in the parties' Partial Stipulation and exhibits pursuant to Iowa Court Rule 36.16 filed with the Grievance Commission on December 20, 2022. Scott Sobel was admitted to practice law in Iowa on June 17, 1983. (App. p. 15). At the time of the conduct alleged, Sobel resided in Fayette County, Iowa. (App. p. 15).

MARIO GOODSON MATTER

On or about September 14, 2021, Sobel was appointed to represent Mario Goodson ("Goodson") regarding Goodson's resentencing in Black Hawk County Case No. FECR217122. (App. p. 15). Prior to Sobel's appointment, a sentencing hearing had been set for October 4, 2021. (App. p. 15). On October 3, 2021, Sobel attempted to read the Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI") to prepare for the October 4 sentencing hearing. (App. p. 15). Sobel learned that he was not able to access the PSI but did not alert anyone of these technical problems until the hearing had begun on October 4. (App. p. 15). Sobel did not communicate with Goodson in any manner until the hearing on October 4, although Sobel did communicate with Goodson's mother before the hearing. (App. p. 15). The Honorable Judge Fangman presided over the October 4 hearing. (App. 16). Judge Fangman was not aware Sobel had not yet reviewed the PSI with his client until the record was opened and the hearing was underway. (App. p. 16). Once Judge Fangman learned that Sobel had

not reviewed the PSI with his client, she ordered a brief break off the record to allow him to do so. (App p. 16). The hearing proceeded following this break, but Judge Fangman ordered a second break after Goodson indicated he did not have sufficient opportunity to review the PSI. (App. p. 16). After the second break, the hearing proceeded, and Goodson was sentenced to a term of incarceration not to exceed 25 years. (App p. 16).

SAMIR GOLUBOVIC & RAMIZA DERVISEDIC MATTER

On February 23, 2021, Sobel filed a Petition at Law alleging negligent operation of a motor vehicle on behalf of his clients, Plaintiffs, Samir Golubovic (“Golubovic”) and Ramiza Dervisedic (“Dervisedic”), in Black Hawk County Case No. LACV142074. (App. p. 16). Sobel failed to obtain service of process within 90 days. (App. p. 16). Because of the failure to obtain service, the court set a hearing for June 23, 2021. (App p. 16). The court noted in its order setting the hearing that “[f]ailure by the Plaintiff to appear and proceed at this hearing will result in immediate dismissal of the case at the Plaintiff’s expense.” (App. p. 16). Sobel failed to attend the June 23 hearing. (App. p. 16). After Sobel’s failure to attend, the court issued an order rescheduling the hearing for July 9, 2021. (App. p. 17). The court noted, “If the plaintiff again fails to appear for the scheduled hearing, the matter will be dismissed.” (App. p. 17). The defendant to the suit were served on June 28, 125 days after the Petition had been filed. (App. p. 17). The July 9 hearing was thus

canceled. (App. p. 17). On August 2, the defendants filed a pre-answer motion to dismiss. (App. p. 17). On August 16, the court granted the motion to dismiss. (App. p. 17). Sobel did not resist the motion before the court issued the August 16 order and did not seek a continuance or an extension to respond. (App. p. 17). On August 17, Sobel filed a Motion to Set Aside Dismissal and Set Matter for Hearing. (App. p. 17). The basis for Sobel's motion was that he had been "sick during the time to file [a] resistance" with "bronchitis and ear issues," difficulties with "diabetes management," and needing to use his "rescue inhaler on multiple occasions." (App. p. 17). Sobel also noted that he had been exposed to COVID-19 and had been in quarantine. (App. p. 17). Sobel also explained in his motion that he had not accomplished timely service because he had undergone "scopes and biopsies and dilation to determine difficulty swallowing and motility of the digestive tract," and he had a "systemic yeast infection" and "pneumonia contracted after the procedures." (App. p. 18). According to Sobel, "[f]rom start to finish this process took a little over 2.5 months for scheduling, covid pretesting, diagnosis and follow up." (App. p. 18). Sobel concluded the motion by stating, "I am out of energy as I complete this Motion with a spike of over 400 for the past couple hours." (App. p. 18). Other than to orally suggest to his clients that they seek other counsel, Sobel took no other steps to withdraw from representation in this matter during the period that

he was ill. (App. p. 18). On October 11, the court set aside the dismissal because of “good cause attributable to excusable neglect.” (App. p. 18).

ARGUMENT

Error Preservation: This matter is fully preserved in the Stipulation, Exhibits, and the Commission’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Ruling on Objection and Response, and Recommendation.

Scope and Standard of Appellate Review: The Court reviews attorney disciplinary proceedings de novo. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Parrish*, 801 N.W.2d 580, 583 (Iowa 2011). The board has the burden of proving an attorney’s ethical misconduct by a convincing preponderance of the evidence. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Gailey*, 790 N.W.2d 801, 803 (Iowa 2010). The appropriate discipline in a particular case turns on the nature of the alleged violations, the need for deterrence, protection of the public, maintenance of the reputation of the profession as a whole, and the Respondent's fitness to continue in the practice of law. *Iowa Supreme Court Board of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Freeman*, 603 N.W.2d 600, 603 (Iowa 1999). The commission’s findings and recommendations are given respectful consideration, but [the Court] are not bound by them. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Isaacson*, 750 N.W.2d 104, 106 (Iowa 2008).

There is no standard discipline for a particular type of attorney misconduct. *Iowa Supreme Court Board of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Hohenadel*, 634 N.W.2d 652, 655 (Iowa 2001). The form and extent of any sanction must be tailored to the specific facts and circumstances of each individual case. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Marks*, 759 N.W.2d 328, 332 (Iowa 2009). Considering heavily the particular circumstances of each case. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disc. Bd. v. Lynch*, 901 N.W.2d 501, 509 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disc. Bd. v. Willey*, 889 N.W.2d 647, 657 (Iowa 2017)). The Court is, however, concerned with maintaining some degree of consistency throughout disciplinary cases. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Clauss*, 711 N.W.2d 1, 4 (Iowa 2006).

I. THE STIPULATED CONDUCT DOES NOT VIOLATE THE IOWA RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

The conduct of Scott Sobel does not result in a violation of any rules of professional conduct. In the Goodson, and Golubovic matters no party suffered any harm due to the conduct of Sobel. No sanction should be imposed on Sobel. The facts of the matter are what they are and do not warrant any discipline. Prior law issued by the Iowa Supreme Court is instructive regarding the present case. In cases involving neglect of a client matter, sanctions have ranged from a public reprimand to a six-month suspension. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Lickiss*, 786 N.W.2d 860, 868 (Iowa 2010). In Lickiss, neglect by an attorney is defined as “a consistent failure to perform those obligations that a lawyer has assumed, or a

conscious disregard for the responsibilities a lawyer owes to a client. *Id.* at 867. An attorney does not typically commit neglect by missing a single deadline. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disc. Bd. v. Taylor*, 814 N.W.2d 259, 265 (Iowa 2012). Pursuant to the Golubovic complaint, the finding by the trial judge of excusable neglect by Sobel should negate any further action as the matter has already been adjudicated by a competent and respected Court. Regarding the conduct taken by Sobel in the Golubovic matter there is nothing for the Court to consider.

In the Goodson matter, Goodson suffered no harm as a result of Sobel’s conduct. The Court consistently finds that a lack of client harm will be a mitigating circumstance. *Iowa Supreme Court Att’y. Disc. Bd. v. Boles*, 808 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 2012). Despite not being able to review the PSI before Goodson’s hearing, The Honorable Judge Fangman stopped the hearing twice to allow Sobel and then, Goodson a chance to receive adequate time to review the PSI. The hearing then proceeded with Sobel and Goodson familiar with the PSI. The hearing concluded with all parties having been reasonably informed of the matter at hand. “Ordinary negligence does not constitute neglect.” *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disc. Bd. v. Taylor*, 814 N.W.2d 259, 265 (Iowa 2012). Sobel was appointed to represent Goodson in a limited scope, for the matter of Goodson’s re-sentencing hearing. A violation of Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:1.3 arises not from inadvertent acts or omissions or from missing a single deadline, but from consistently failing to perform

functions required of an attorney or from repeatedly missing deadlines. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Atty Disc. Bd. v. Bergmann*, 938 N.W.2d 16 (Iowa 2020); *Iowa Supreme Ct. Atty Disc. Bd. v. Conroy*, 845 N.W.2d 59, 64 (Iowa 2014). This was a single incident, which occurred over one case. Sobel did not miss any hearings, there was no hearing rescheduled, nor was Goodson prejudiced at all by Sobel's conduct.

II. MITIGATING AND AGGRAVATING FACTORS

Scott Sobel has devoted the entirety of his professional life to assisting persons throughout the State of Iowa in many charitable circumstances. Sobel's decades of experience doing public service are viewed as a significant mitigating factor in determining an appropriate sanction. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Boles*, 808 N.W.2d 431, 442 (Iowa 2012). Sobel has served as the President of the JACC Foundation, and President of the JAC Shalom House. (App. p. 198). In 1997, Sobel received the Governor's Volunteer Service Award for Refugee work. (App. p. 192). Sobel's volunteering service and charitable contributions are a strong mitigating factor when determining the appropriate sanction. Sobel has been dealing with significant health limitations. Physical health limitations are considered mitigating factors when determining attorney sanctions. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Cannon*, 821 N.W.2d 873, 881 (Iowa 2012). The basis for Sobel's Motion to Set Aside Dismissal and Set Matter for Hearing was that he had bronchitis, ear issues, diabetes management, and needing to use his rescue inhaler on multiple occasions.

(App. p. 145). Additionally, Sobel had undergone scopes and biopsies and dilation to determine difficulty swallowing and motility of the digestive tract, had a systemic yeast infection, and contracted pneumonia after the procedures. (App. pp. 145-146). Sobel has been fully cooperative with the investigation against him. Full cooperation with the Board's investigation is a mitigating factor. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Heggan*, 981 N.W.2d 701 (Iowa 2022).

CONCLUSION

The complaint against Scott Sobel should be dismissed. There is no appropriate sanction warranted against Sobel for the conduct alleged. The crux of the complaints against Sobel are a matter of issue preclusion, having already been set aside by the Court. The Iowa Grievance Commission rules of procedure allow either party in an attorney disciplinary proceeding to invoke principles of offensive issue preclusion. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd v. Noel*, 923 N.W.2d 575, 583 (Iowa 2019); *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd v Blessum*, 861 N.W.2d 575 (Iowa 2015). Principles of equity and fairness require this doctrine to be extended to defensive issue preclusion, barring a party from relitigating an issue decided against another party in an earlier action.

**APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF DESIRE TO BE HEARD IN ORAL
ARGUMENT**

Appellant hereby states his desire to be heard in oral argument pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.21(1).

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPE-VOLUME LIMITATION,
TYPEFACE

REQUIREMENTS, AND TYPE-STYLE REQUIREMENTS

1. This brief complies with the type-volume limitation of Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1) or (2) because: