In the Supreme Court of Iowa

**Supreme Court No. 23-0549
Grievance Commission No. 944**

**Iowa Supreme Court
Attorney Disciplinary Board,**

Appellee,

vs.

Scott A. Sobel,

Appellant

**Appeal from the Report of the Iowa Supreme Court Grievance
Commission**

Appellee's Final Brief

**Alexis W. Grove, AT0013501
Allison A. Schmidt, AT0013118
Iowa Judicial Branch Building
1111 East Court Avenue
Des Moines, IA 50319-5003
Telephone: (515) 348-4680
Fax: (515) 348-4699
alexis.grove@iowacourts.gov
allison.schmidt@iowacourts.gov**

Attorneys for Appellee

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

ARGUMENT

Error Preservation

The Board agrees Sobel preserved the issues presented for appellate review.

Scope and Standard of Appellate Review

The Board agrees with Sobel that the scope and standard of appellate review is de novo. *See Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Daniels*, 984 N.W.2d 757, 764 (Iowa 2023).

I. THE COMMISSION PROPERLY FOUND THAT SOBEL VIOLATED IOWA RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 32:1.3 AND 1.4(a)(3) IN CONNECTION WITH THE GOODSON MATTER.

The Commission correctly found that Sobel's neglect of his client Mario Goodson's ("Goodson") matter and his failure to communicate with Goodson before the October 4 resentencing hearing violated Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct 32:1.3 and 1.4(a)(3).

Rule 32:1.3 states, "A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client." A violation of this rule "often involves 'a lawyer doing little or nothing to advance the interests of a client after agreeing to represent the client.'" *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. West*, 901 N.W.2d 519, 524 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *Iowa Sup. Ct. Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Moorman*, 683 N.W.2d 549, 552 (Iowa 2004)). "Neglect is more than negligence, and it often involves procrastination" *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Earley*, 729 N.W.2d 437, 442 (Iowa 2007) (finding a violation of the precursor to rule 32:1.3 because the attorney "clearly neglected [his] clients' legal matters in his failure to communicate with his clients"). "Violations [of this rule] occur when an attorney fails to appear at scheduled court proceedings, does not make proper filings, or *is slow to act on matters.*"

Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Nelson, 838 N.W.2d 528, 537 (Iowa 2013) (emphasis added).

In *Iowa Supreme Court Board of Professional Ethics & Conduct v. Kennedy*, the court found violations of the predecessor to rule 32:1.3 where an attorney represented her client in a postconviction relief matter but neglected the matter by, in part, “fail[ing] to prepare for the hearing.” 684 N.W.2d 256, 259 (Iowa 2004). See generally *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Dolezal*, 796 N.W.2d 910, 915 (Iowa 2011) (“The new rule provides that a lawyer ‘shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client’; the old rule provided that a lawyer shall not ‘neglect a legal matter entrusted to him.’ Thus, both rules are broadly worded to require diligence, or conversely to prohibit neglect, in the course of legal work on a client’s behalf.”). In concluding this, the court noted that the attorney “neglected her professional obligations” when she “did little to prepare the case for hearing and did less to involve her client in the process.” *Kennedy*, 684 N.W.2d at 260; see also *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Carpenter*, 781 N.W.2d 263, 269 (Iowa 2010) (“Under our rules prohibiting neglect, an attorney must advance and protect his clients’ interests.”).

The Board acknowledges that a single omission or failure to act does not typically result in a violation of rule 32:1.3. *See Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Taylor*, 814 N.W.2d 259, 265 (Iowa 2012). However, a lawyer can be found to have violated this rule if, instead of multiple instances of missed deadlines or failures to appear at hearings, he consciously disregards his duties to a client. *See id.* “[N]eglect involves a consistent failure to perform obligations the lawyer has assumed *or* a ‘conscious disregard for the responsibilities a lawyer owes to a client’” *Id.* (emphasis added) (quoting *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Lickiss*, 786 N.W.2d 860, 867 (Iowa 2010)).

Importantly, this is not a case of simple negligence. *See Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Morse*, 887 N.W.2d 131, 141 (Iowa 2016) (finding a violation of rule 32:1.3 because the attorney “did not inadvertently miss a deadline” but rather “chose a course of action contrary to his obligation of diligence”); *Taylor*, 814 N.W.2d at 265 (finding no violation of rule 32:1.3 because the attorney’s failure to timely file an appeal and failure to prosecute another appeal were the result of the attorney’s ignorance and inadvertent omissions). Sobel’s choices in his treatment of the Goodson matter were deliberate—he chose to disregard his obligations to prepare properly for the hearing and involve his client in any sort of preparation, and he opted to start the hearing without being prepared,

essentially keeping his fingers crossed that the court would not address it. He demonstrated a “conscious disregard for the responsibilities” that he owed to Goodson. *See Taylor*, 814 N.W.2d at 265.

This is akin to *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Weiland*, 885 N.W.2d 198 (Iowa 2016). In that case, the court found that the attorney had violated rule 32:1.3 after he “had difficulty filing [his client’s] divorce petition with EDMS.” *Id.* at 208. The court noted that, “[w]hile this alone [was] not sufficient to rise to a violation of rule 32:1.3, [his] actions following the rejection of his filing demonstrate both a ‘consistent failure’ to perform and a ‘conscious disregard’ for the obligations he had to [his client].” *Id.* (citing *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Weiland*, 862 N.W.2d 627, 635 (Iowa 2015)). After his failure to file the document, the attorney apparently ignored the problem and hoped for the best, even misleading his client into believing that he had filed the document and was attempting to have the petition served. *Id.* Although the conduct in that case was admittedly much more egregious than in the instant matter, it was the attorney’s choices *after* his unsuccessful attempts to adhere to his obligations as an attorney that amounted to a violation of the rule, just as it is Sobel’s choices after he unsuccessfully attempted to view the

presentence investigation report (“PSI”) that amount to a rule violation here. *See id.*

This was also not a case where Sobel otherwise attended to the matter but overlooked one thing through at least partial fault of the client. *See Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Blessum*, 861 N.W.2d 575, 586 (Iowa 2015) (finding no violation of rule 32:1.3 where the attorney otherwise handled the matter diligently and there was a “single instance of nonprejudicial delay in filing a single document, attributable partly to the client, partly to her ex-husband, and partly to the attorney”). Sobel’s representation of Goodson was limited, as he was appointed to represent Goodson for purposes of resentencing. (App. 15). Only one thing mattered in that representation: the resentencing hearing. Although a court may consider information from other sources, the primary source is the PSI. *See Iowa Code § 902.2* (2021). Sobel did not review the PSI, either by himself or with his client, before the hearing began, nor did he bother to inform anyone that he had been unable to access the PSI. (App. 15–16). The district court took note of this at the hearing:

THE COURT: Mr. Sobel, have you also had an opportunity to review that PSI?

MR. SOBEL: Unfortunately the PSI is blocked on Iowa Courts -- on EDMS, and it was not accessible.

THE COURT: And you didn't think to come to somebody and ask for that in advance?

MR. SOBEL: When I was preparing for the hearing last night and going through to read things and make sure I had everything correct, that's when I figured that one out. . . .

(App. 181–82). As the Commission noted in its report, the record indicates that the hearing began at 1:07 p.m., but Sobel notified no one that morning that he had not been able to access the PSI. (App. 48, 180). In addition to showing up to a hearing unprepared by neglecting to review the PSI, Sobel was also unprepared because he had not communicated with his client in any way prior to the hearing and thus had no way of knowing his client's position on any of the issues relevant to resentencing.¹ (App. 15).

Sobel's unpreparedness also implicates rule 32:1.4(a)(3), which states, "A lawyer shall keep the client reasonably informed about the status of the

¹ It is worth noting that it is irrelevant that Sobel's unpreparedness did not change the outcome of the resentencing hearing. As the comment to the rule notes, "Even when the client's interests are not affected in substance, however, unreasonable delay can cause a client needless anxiety and undermine confidence in the lawyer's trustworthiness." Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.3 cmt. [3]; *see also Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Wagner*, 768 N.W.2d 279, 287 (Iowa 2009) ("Additionally, all of Wagner's clients were harmed by stress caused by Wagner's neglect.").

matter.” Sobel did not communicate with Goodson at all before the hearing.² (Stip. ¶ 11). In failing to do so, he failed to “explain the general strategy and prospects of success” to Goodson regarding the resentencing. *See* Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.4 cmt. [5]; *see also* Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Beauvais, 948 N.W.2d 505, 514 (Iowa 2020) (finding a violation of rule 32:1.4 where it was “not clear Beauvais developed, let alone communicated, much of any strategy about how he intended to advance [his client’s] case”).

The Commission correctly found that the Board proved by a convincing preponderance of the evidence that Sobel violated Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct 32:1.3 and 1.4(a)(3).

II. THE COMMISSION PROPERLY FOUND THAT SOBEL VIOLATED IOWA RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 32:1.16(a)(2), 3.2, AND 8.4(d) IN CONNECTION WITH THE GOLUBOVIC MATTER.

The Commission correctly found that Sobel’s failure to abide by deadlines, his failure to withdraw from representation in the Golubovic matter despite knowing that his illness was causing him to miss deadlines, and the

² The Board acknowledges that Sobel communicated with Goodson’s mother before the hearing. (App. 15). However, Goodson’s mother is not the client, and communication with her alone cannot satisfy Sobel’s obligations to his client under rule 32:1.4, particularly without Goodson’s consent to communicate with his mother in the first place.

strain this caused on the judicial system violated Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct 32:1.16(a)(2), 3.2, and 8.4(d).

Rule 32:1.16(a)(2) states, “A lawyer shall not represent a client or, where representation has commenced, shall withdraw from the representation of a client if the lawyer’s physical or mental condition materially impairs the lawyer’s ability to represent the client.” The court has identified three things which must be present for there to be a violation of this rule: 1) the attorney was suffering from a physical or mental condition, 2) the condition materially impaired the attorney’s ability to represent clients, and 3) the attorney failed to withdraw. *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Kingery*, 871 N.W.2d 109, 119 (Iowa 2015).

It is clear and undisputed that Sobel was suffering from severe medical problems during the period in question. (App. 17–18, 145–46). It is also undisputed that Sobel failed to withdraw from the representation. (App. 18). The only remaining question, then, is whether Sobel’s illness materially impaired his ability to represent his clients. *See Kingery*, 871 N.W.2d at 119.

In determining whether there was a material impairment, the court looks to see “what actually happened” in the case. *Id.* at 120. This can sometimes be demonstrated by delays in court proceedings and missing court hearings. *See*

id. at 114–15, 119–20. It is uncontested that Sobel failed to obtain service and missed a hearing regarding that failure and that Sobel’s failings caused his clients’ case to be dismissed, which in turn caused additional delays in the proceedings. (App. 16–17, 133–78). A material impairment can also be demonstrated by whether the attorney’s conduct caused harm. *See Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. McCarthy*, 814 N.W.2d 596, 608 (Iowa 2012). In *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. McCarthy*, the court found that the Board had failed to prove a violation of rule 32:1.16(a)(2) because it had failed to show that the attorney’s ability to represent his client had been “materially impaired.” *Id.* In that case, the attorney had failed to file a petition for dissolution of marriage on behalf of his client; instead, her husband filed his own. *Id.* Who filed the petition and when really had no effect on the proceedings, so it was essentially “no harm, no foul.” *Id.* Because the attorney’s inaction had not put his client at any sort of disadvantage, there was no violation of the rule. *Id.* On the other end of the spectrum and in another case, *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Hoglan*, the court did find a violation of the rule where the lawyer’s physical condition caused him to allow

three appeals to be dismissed for want of prosecution.³ 781 N.W.2d 279, 282–84 (Iowa 2010).

Sobel’s inactions unquestionably caused harm—harm to his clients, harm to the opposing party, and harm to the courts. It is true that the district court set aside the dismissal because of “good cause attributable to excusable neglect” and that because of this, the harm to the clients was short-lived. (App. 18, 133). However, Sobel’s misconduct caused his clients’ case to languish for nearly eight months between when the petition was filed in February and when the court ordered the dismissal to be set aside in October. (App. 133–78). This is different from *McCarthy*, where the attorney’s inaction meant the case was never filed and no deadlines were triggered. 814 N.W.2d at 608. Additionally, the type of case in *McCarthy* is relevant, as there are no statute-of-limitations considerations to a dissolution action; it makes no real difference when a divorce action is filed. *See id.* The same is *not* true of the action filed by Sobel on behalf of his client, which was a personal injury action stemming from a

³ Interestingly, the fact that the clients harmed by the attorney’s conduct all testified that they were not angry or disappointed with his representation—one of them even continuing to use his services after the dismissal of the appeal—did not affect the court’s analysis regarding rule 32:1.16(a)(2). *See Hoglan*, 781 N.W.2d 279, 283–84. The fact that the clients did not fire Sobel after the dismissal and reinstatement of the claim therefore does not save him from a violation of this rule.

motor vehicle accident. (App. 176–77). According to the Petition at Law that Sobel filed on February 23, 2021, the injury occurred on February 23, 2019. (App. 176). Sobel filed the Petition on behalf of his clients on the *very last day* before the statute of limitations on the claim would have run. *See* Iowa Code § 614.1(2) (2019) (setting a two-year statute of limitations for personal-injury claims). But for the grace of the court in setting aside the dismissal, Sobel’s clients would have lost that portion of their claim entirely. *See id.*

Additionally, Sobel’s inactions caused harm to the opposing party in the Golubovic matter. Sobel’s failure to serve the petition required the opposing party’s attorney to address the failure through a motion to dismiss, as well as respond to Sobel’s Motion to Set Aside Dismissal and Set Matter for Hearing. (App. 139–42, 145–46, 149–50).

Lastly, Sobel’s inactions caused harm to the judicial system. His failure to serve the petition caused the court to expend its limited resources on dealing with the failure. (App. 133–78). Additionally, Sobel neglected to attend the hearing regarding the failure to serve, which required the court to set another hearing, although that hearing was eventually cancelled. (App. 16–17, 167). The court also had to devote resources to the motion to dismiss following the failure to obtain timely service. (App. 17–18, 133–78). These resources could

have been used elsewhere had Sobel withdrawn from representation after it became clear his physical ailments were materially impairing his ability to represent his clients and another attorney taken over and properly served the petition.

Although both the *Hoglan* court and the *McCarthy* court zeroed in on the harm to the clients, the facts in those cases lent themselves to that analysis. There was not a question of harm to the judicial system or harm to opposing parties in either case. As discussed above, those harms unquestionably exist here. Thus, because of the existence of harm, this case is much closer to *Hoglan* than it is to *McCarthy*.

But the analysis does not stop at finding a material impairment. There must be a clear causal link between the lawyer's physical or mental condition and that impairment. *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Cunningham*, 812 N.W.2d 541, 549 (Iowa 2012). In *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Cunningham*, the court found that the attorney had not violated rule 32:1.16(a)(2). *See id.* The court concluded that the Board had not met its burden because although it was "clear that something was impairing" the attorney's ability to represent his client, it was "not clear that the impairment was a mental or physical issue." *Id.* The problem in the court's eyes was the

timing of the impairment; the record indicated a specific date of impairment, but it was unclear whether the problems the attorney caused in his client's case before that date were caused by the impairment or simply run-of-the-mill neglect. *Id.*

This case differs significantly from *Cunningham*. Here, there is a clear causal link between the problems in the case and Sobel's impairment. Sobel himself admitted in his filings to the court that the reason he failed to accomplish timely service or resist the motion to dismiss his client's case is because he was extraordinarily ill. (App. 145–46). This sufficiently satisfies the causal element to rule 32:1.16(a)(2). *See Kingery*, 871 N.W.2d at 120. Because Sobel's clear physical condition materially impaired his ability to represent his clients, he violated rule 32:1.16(a)(2).

Rule 32:3.2 states, "A lawyer shall make reasonable efforts to expedite litigation consistent with the interests of the client." The necessary question is "whether a competent lawyer acting in good faith would regard the course of action as having some substantial purpose other than delay." Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:3.2 cmt. [1]. Failure to properly attain service is a violation of this rule. *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Thomas*, 794 N.W.2d 290, 294 (Iowa 2011). In *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Dolezal*, the court

found a violation of rule 32:3.2 in an attorney’s representation of his client in a social security disability appeal to federal district court. 796 N.W.2d at 915. In that case, the attorney filed a complaint but did not have the complaint served, which resulted in dismissal of the case. *Id.* This was a violation of rule 32:3.2. *Id.* at 917. In *Hoglan*, the court also found that the attorney’s failure to prosecute the appeals—resulting in the dismissal of those appeals—was a violation of rule 32:3.2.⁴ 781 N.W.2d at 284. Sobel’s own failure to effectuate service was a violation of this rule; there is no legitimate reason for Sobel to have delayed this responsibility. *See id.*; *see also* Iowa R. Prof’l Conduct 32:3.2 cmt. [1].

Rule 32:8.4(d) states, “It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.” “A lawyer’s conduct violates rule 32:8.4(d) if ‘it impedes the efficient and proper operation of the courts or of ancillary systems upon which the courts rely.’ ” *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Kieffer-Garrison*, 847 N.W.2d 489, 495 (Iowa 2014) (quoting *Taylor*, 814 N.W.2d at 267). An attorney violates this rule

⁴ It is worth noting that a condition triggering rule 32:1.16(a)(2) does not obviate the attorney’s need to expedite litigation pursuant to rule 32:3.2 or remove the attorney’s culpability for violating that rule. *See Hoglan*, 781 N.W.2d at 282–84 (finding a violation of both rules).

by causing court proceedings to be delayed; the dismissal of a matter is not required to support a violation. *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Tindal*, 949 N.W.2d 637, 642 (Iowa 2020). “[F]ailing to timely file documents with the court is conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice” *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Sotak*, 706 N.W.2d 385, 389 (Iowa 2005).

In *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Sotak*, the Iowa Supreme Court found an attorney’s “failure to properly serve opposing parties and meet court deadlines” violated the predecessor rule to rule 32:8.4(d). *Id.* In *Dolezal*, the court found that the attorney’s failure to have the complaint served was a violation of this rule because “the court was forced to expend resources unnecessarily before dismissing [the client’s] stale appeal.” 796 N.W.2d at 917. Similarly, Sobel’s failure to serve the defendant with the petition, as well as his failure to appear for a hearing or file a resistance to the motion to dismiss, wasted judicial resources and was prejudicial to the administration of justice. *See id.*

Sobel argues that the above-discussed rule violations did not occur based on the vague contention that “there is nothing for the Court to consider” and

with passing reference to issue preclusion.⁵ (Appellant’s Proof Brief pp. 13, 15). However, as the Commission correctly concluded, issue preclusion does not apply. Iowa Court Rule 36.17(4) governs issue preclusion in attorney disciplinary proceedings. That rule states:

Either party may use principles of issue preclusion in an attorney discipline case if all of the following conditions exist:

- a. The issue has been resolved in a civil proceeding that resulted in a final judgment or in a criminal proceeding that resulted in a finding of guilt, even if the disciplinary board was not a party to the prior proceeding.
- b. The burden of proof in the prior proceeding was greater than a preponderance of the evidence.
- c. The party seeking preclusive effect has given written notice to the opposing party, not less than 10 days prior to the hearing, of the party’s intention to invoke issue preclusion.

Iowa Ct. R. 36.17(4). In addition to the requirements delineated in the rule, use of issue preclusion also requires:

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